THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
In the Court of General Sessions

Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000561
Lower Court Case No. 2016-GS-10-02883

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
JUN 04 2019
SC Court of Appeals

The StateRespondent,

v.

General T. Little.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Vordman Carlisle Traywick, III
SC Bar No. 102123
ROBINSON GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 929-1400
ltraywick@robinsongray.com

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
SC Bar No. 1767
COMMISSION ON INDIGENT DEFENSE
Post Office Box 11589

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in failing to suppress evidence as fruit of the poisonous tree stemming from the illegal search of Dr. Little's vehicle parked in the driveway within the curtilage of his home?
- II. Did the circuit court err in denying Dr. Little's motion for a mistrial when the solicitor mentioned a ring during her closing argument that the court suppressed prior to trial?
- III. Did the circuit court err in qualifying the State's witness as an expert in footwear impressions and admitting her prejudicial and unreliable testimony purporting to link the tread design of Dr. Little's shoe to one found at the crime scene?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of an officer's unlawful intrusion into the curtilage of Appellant General T. Little's (Dr. Little)¹ home that set off a series of State action that infringed upon Dr. Little's constitutional rights and ultimately secured his murder conviction.

On September 22, 2015, Barbara Little was found dead in her home in Charleston, South Carolina. (R. pp. 341, 344). Barbara's brother, A.J. McConnell, discovered her body in the bathroom after her daughter, Kimberly Little-Armstrong, had asked him to check on her. (Id. at 342, 344). Barbara did not answer Kimberly's phone calls that evening. (Id. at 449). After discovering Barbara's body, McConnell called 911 and dispatchers notified law enforcement. (Id. at 344, 511). Investigators spoke with A.J. and Kimberly immediately upon arrival to Barbara's home. (Id. at 345, 514). An hour later, law enforcement was sent to the home of Barbara's ex-husband,² Dr. Little, to locate him. (Id. at 514). Dr. Little had not shown up for a dinner date at IHOP with his daughter, Kimberly, earlier that evening. (Id. at 449).

Dr. Little lived in an upper-middle-class neighborhood in West Ashley. (Id. at 547, 161). The house was a two-story colonial style with a front porch. See (R. p. 1264). Its driveway ran from the street up to the garage on the left side of the house. See (R. pp. 1265, 1286–87). Before the front threshold of the house was a sidewalk that fed into the driveway. See id. All vehicles were parked beyond the sidewalk in the back part of the driveway. See id. The driveway was wide enough to fit two vehicles, and Dr. Little's vehicle was on the righthand side. See id. Because the vehicle on the left was hugging the middle of the driveway, Dr. Little's vehicle was parked

¹ Dr. Little was employed as a medical doctor with the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs in Beaufort, South Carolina, at the time. (R. p. 336).

² They had been divorced for almost twenty years and "didn't fight." (R. pp. 336, 485).

farther to the right. See id. His right rear tire rested in the mulch beside the driveway as a result. See id. The vehicle was less than a car's width from the side of the dwelling. See id.

Seeing a vehicle that he knew belonged to Dr. Little parked slightly off the driveway, Deputy Matthew Colburn of the Charleston County Sheriff's Department approached it. (R. p. 514). In doing so, Deputy Colburn traversed beyond the portion of the driveway feeding into the sidewalk where a visitor might pass to reach the front porch. See (R. pp. 1265, 1286–87 & 553). He then purportedly performed a safety sweep of all vehicles in the driveway using a flashlight. (Id. at 516, 555). Although he quickly ascertained from the driver's side window that no one was hiding in Dr. Little's vehicle, which was parked and not running, Deputy Colburn nevertheless approached it again after checking the other vehicles. (Id. at 551, 554 & 70). Specifically, Deputy Colburn walked around to the other side of Dr. Little's vehicle and discovered the front passenger window rolled down. (Id. at 516–17).

The timing of his discovery is inconsistent in the record. The search warrant affidavits indicate Deputy Colburn observed the window down during his sweep, (Id. at 1257, 1262), but he testified at trial he could see the window down from the street as he pulled up to the home on the evening in question. (Id. at 516). Deputy Colburn arrived after 11:00 P.M. that evening. Id. As noted above, the vehicles in the driveway were parked beyond the front threshold of the home. See (R. pp. 1265, 1286–87). No overhead lights were on inside the car. (Id. at 549).

During the subsequent search of Dr. Little's vehicle, Deputy Colburn noticed a brownish stain that appeared to be blood on the exterior of the open center console lid. (Id. at 517). Using his flashlight, Deputy Colburn further searched the vehicle and discovered towels that were similar to those found at Barbara's home. (Id.). While Deputy Colburn was snooping through his vehicle, Dr. Little walked out of the residence. (Id.). Deputy Colburn asked Dr. Little if he would

accompany him to the law enforcement center to speak with detectives, and Dr. Little obliged. (Id. at 557). Deputy Colburn conceded he had neither a warrant nor probable cause to search Dr. Little's property. (Id. at 548). According to Deputy Colburn, Dr. Little was not even a suspect at the time. (Id. at 543).

Deputy Colburn subsequently transported Dr. Little to the law enforcement center in the back of his vehicle. (Id. at 557). Upon arrival, Deputy Colburn turned Dr. Little over to Detective Dustin Turner, to whom he privately divulged his findings from the search of the vehicle. (Id. at 518). Detective Turner then proceeded to interrogate Dr. Little about Barbara's death. (Id. at 644). Meanwhile, Detective Will Muirhead received a call to meet Deputy Colburn back at Dr. Little's residence. (Id. at 663). Following his search of Dr. Little's vehicle, Detective Muirhead relayed his findings to Detective Jason Bowen. (Id. at 663–64). Detective Bowen was tasked with “constructing” a probable cause affidavit to present to a magistrate for purposes of obtaining a search warrant. (Id. at 664). In the interim, Detective Muirhead asked Dr. Little's wife, Carla Little, for permission to enter the home for a “walk-through.” (Id. at 665).

Shortly thereafter, Detective Muirhead returned to the law enforcement center and took his turn interrogating Dr. Little. (Id. at 666). In all, Dr. Little was interrogated at the station for almost four hours by three different detectives before someone finally read him Miranda warnings.³ (Id. at 206). During this time, detectives searched Dr. Little's person for scratches and any evidence of a struggle. (Id. at 649–50, 1075). Over his objection, detectives also required Dr. Little to remove his clothes and place them in an evidence bag. (Id. at 217, 225). Detectives had no search warrant for his clothing and never bothered to obtain one. (Id. at 226–27). In the back pocket of his pants, detectives discovered Dr. Little's wedding ring. (Id. at 203). While the ring tested

³ See Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

positive for blood, it was never matched to any known DNA. (Id.). After Dr. Little stripped down, Detective Turner gave him a ride home. (Id. at 645).

Detectives later executed the search warrants obtained pursuant to Deputy Colburn's unlawful search of Dr. Little's vehicle and seized various items, including the vehicle, from Dr. Little's home. (Id. at 669, 739). They also searched his phone and computer records. (Id. at 669, 386 & 903). Investigators were fixated on the fact that Dr. Little was behind in alimony payments and was served with a rule to show cause on the day of Barbara's death. (Id. at 652, 673). But this was nothing new. Dr. Little had been hailed into family court on numerous prior occasions to account for his delinquent alimony payments. (Id. at 647, 336). Although the State exaggerated the amount of alimony owed at trial, the amount at issue in the rule to show cause was approximately \$17,000. (Id. at 509). As one witness noted, that is not kill people money. (Id. at 437). Nevertheless, detectives fingered Dr. Little as the primary suspect and pursued no other leads that supported a different theory of the case.

In May of 2016, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Dr. Little for murder. (Id. at 1255–56). The case was initially called for a jury trial in February of 2018. Prior to trial, the circuit court held a lengthy hearing on Dr. Little's motions to suppress based upon law enforcement's violations of his constitutional rights throughout the investigation as well as various other pre-trial issues. (Id. 5–246). The circuit court granted Dr. Little's motion to suppress his wedding ring, finding it was obtained in an illegal search following a Miranda violation. (Id. at 233–34). But the court denied Dr. Little's motion to suppress the blood evidence found in his vehicle and all related evidence. (Id. at 159–62). Following jury selection, the State turned over video evidence the defense had been requesting for months.⁴ (Id. at 287). In lieu of declaring a

⁴ See Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); Rule 5(d)(2), SCCrimP. Although not relevant to the issues on appeal, the State's repeated delay in turning over evidence to the defense in this case was disturbing.

mistrial or excluding the evidence withheld by the State, the circuit court elected to continue the case to the next term of general sessions. (Id. at 289–90).

The case was recalled for a jury trial on March 19–23, 2018. After jury selection and opening statements, the State presented a smattering of law enforcement and fact witnesses to discuss the crime scene, the searches of Dr. Little’s vehicle and home, the subsequent investigation, cell tower records, the family court’s rule to show cause, Dr. Little’s interrogation, blood forensics, and Dr. Little’s computer records. (Id. at 321–943). Additionally, the State proffered Dawn Claycomb, a crime scene agent with the South Carolina State Law Enforcement Division (SLED), to testify as an expert in footwear examination. (Id. at 960). Claycomb participated in the investigation into Barbara’s death. (Id. at 968). Dr. Little challenged Claycomb’s qualifications, as well as the substance of her testimony, but the circuit court permitted her to testify over his objection. (Id. at 944–55, 963). Claycomb testified that she found the “outsole design” from Dr. Little’s shoe was “similar” to an impression taken from the scene, but she could not say it was the same shoe. (Id. at 976). A forensic pathologist from the Medical University of South Carolina also testified regarding her findings from Barbara’s autopsy. (Id. at 1010–49).

After the State rested, Dr. Little moved for directed verdict. (Id. at 1061–64). The circuit court denied his motion and instructed the defense to call its first witness. (Id. at 1066, 1071). Dr. Little called three witnesses to the stand. Detective Matthew Downing, who questioned Dr. Little along with two other detectives at the station, testified that he did not observe any physical injuries on Dr. Little’s body on the night in question. (Id. at 1074–75). He confirmed that Dr. Little was questioned for at least two or three hours, starting after midnight. (Id. at 1085, 1073). When asked

about Dr. Little's demeanor during this questioning, Detective Downing stated he was aware that Dr. Little had been up since 4:30 A.M.—for almost twenty-four hours. (Id. at 1085).

Next, Kimberly Mears, a fingerprint examiner with SLED, testified that she was given five latent fingerprint lifts from the crime scene and attempted to compare them with Barbara's and Dr. Little's fingerprints. (Id. at 1087, 1096–97). She determined four latent lifts were of “no value for comparison,” and the fifth one—which was taken from the interior of the glass storm door at Barbara's home—did not match Dr. Little's fingerprints. (Id. at 1097). Finally, Deputy Robert Haslip testified regarding his recollection of events at the crime scene. (Id. at 1108–20). He further testified about the policies and procedures governing dashboard cameras and body cameras. (Id. at 1106). Following his testimony, the defense rested and renewed all prior motions. (Id. at 1135). They were denied, and the parties proceeded with closing arguments. (Id. at 1135, 1137–1224).

During its closing argument, the State heavily relied upon the blood discovered in Dr. Little's vehicle and the testimony of its footwear impressions expert. (Id. at 1138–39, 1144–45, 1147–48 & 1171–72). In essence, this was the only physical evidence purportedly linking Dr. Little to the scene of the crime. The State then referenced Dr. Little's wedding ring both verbally and via a PowerPoint slide published to the jury. (Id. at 1161). It sought to draw attention to the fact that Dr. Little, who was married to his second wife Carla, was not wearing a wedding ring during the relevant period in question. (Id.). As noted above, the circuit court suppressed the ring before trial because it was taken during an unlawful search that followed a violation of Dr. Little's Miranda rights. (Id. at 233–34).

Dr. Little immediately moved for a mistrial. (Id. at 1162). The circuit court denied his motion, instructing the State—outside the presence of the jury—to take down the slide and not mention the ring anymore. (Id. at 1163). But the damage was already done. The defense delivered

its closing argument, and the State briefly replied. (Id. at 1181–1218, 1219–24). After receiving instructions, the jury retired for deliberations. (Id. at 1225–37).

The jury struggled with this case. Four hours into deliberations, the jury asked for a copy of the charge. (Id. at 1240). When the circuit court asked the foreman to be more specific, the jurors instead decided to return to their room and resume deliberations. (Id. at 1240–41). Ultimately, after deliberating for a total of five hours, the jury returned a guilty verdict. (Id. at 1243). The circuit court denied all renewed motions and then sentenced Dr. Little to thirty years in prison. (Id. at 1243, 1247–52). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Jenkins, 412 S.C. 643, 650, 773 S.E.2d 906, 909 (2015). Although “an appellate court is bound by the circuit court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous,” State v. Blakney, 410 S.C. 244, 249, 763 S.E.2d 622, 625 (Ct. App. 2014), the court “is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the circuit court,” State v. Bailey, 416 S.C. 344, 347, 785 S.E.2d 622, 623 (Ct. App. 2016).

ARGUMENT

The Court should reverse and remand for a new trial because (1) the State’s blood evidence was obtained following an illegal search and should have been suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree, (2) the solicitor improperly referenced a ring during her closing argument that the circuit court had suppressed prior to trial and prejudiced Dr. Little, and (3) the State’s purported footwear impressions expert was not qualified and her testimony was unreliable and prejudicial.

- I. *The circuit court erred in failing to suppress the evidence found in Dr. Little’s vehicle and home because officers obtained it following an illegal search.*

The State violated Dr. Little's rights under the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution by conducting a warrantless search of his vehicle parked in the driveway, which was within the curtilage of his home, and all evidence obtained in this illegal search should have been suppressed under the exclusionary rule as fruit of the poisonous tree.

When deciding "appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds," the appellate court "reviews questions of law de novo." State v. Bash, 419 S.C. 263, 268, 797 S.E.2d 721, 723–24 (2017) (quoting State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014)). "As to a circuit court's findings of fact," the appellate court "must affirm 'if there is any evidence to support it,' and 'may reverse only for clear error.'" Id. at 268, 797 S.E.2d at 724 (quoting State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 87, 736 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2012)). While the appellate court "applies a deferential standard of review" in Fourth Amendment cases, "this deference does not bar th[e] Court from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the [circuit court]'s decision is supported by the evidence." State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010).

The Fourth Amendment, of course, guarantees the people's right "to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. CONST. amend. IV. "Private residences are places in which an individual normally expects privacy free of government intrusion not authorized by a warrant, and that expectation is one society recognizes as justifiable." State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 209, 692 S.E.2d 490, 494 (2009). "In parallel with the protection of the Fourth Amendment, the South Carolina Constitution also provides a safeguard against unlawful searches and seizures." State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 164, 776 S.E.2d 59, 65 (2015) (quoting State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001)); see also S.C. CONST. art. I, § 10 (asserting that "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses,

papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy shall not be violated”).

“By articulating a specific prohibition against ‘unreasonable invasions of privacy,’ the people of South Carolina have indicated that searches and seizures that do not offend the federal Constitution may still offend the South Carolina Constitution.” State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 322, 649 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2007).

The relationship between the two constitutions is significant because “[s]tate courts may afford more expansive rights under state constitutional provisions than the rights which are conferred by the Federal Constitution.” Therefore, state courts can develop state law to provide their citizens with a second layer of constitutional rights. This relationship is often described as a recognition that the federal Constitution sets the floor for individual rights while the state constitution establishes the ceiling. Thus, this Court can interpret the state protection against unreasonable searches and seizures in such a way as to provide greater protection than the federal Constitution.

Counts, 413 S.C. at 164, 776 S.E.2d at 65 (alteration in original) (quoting Forrester, 343 S.C. at 643–44, 541 S.E.2d at 840).

Under both constitutions, “[w]arrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable absent a recognized exception to the warrant requirement.” State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011); see also Herring, 387 S.C. at 209, 692 S.E.2d at 494 (holding “searches and seizures inside a home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable absent exigent circumstances”). “With few exceptions, the question whether a warrantless search of a home is reasonable and hence constitutional must be answered no.” Kyllo v. United States, 533 U.S. 27, 31 (2001). And the Fourth Amendment extends this protection to “the curtilage of the home.” Bash, 419 S.C. at 268, 797 S.E.2d at 723 (quoting Herring, 387 S.C. at 209, 692 S.E.2d at 494).

Our supreme court has held that “the Fourth Amendment is not triggered unless a person has an actual and reasonable expectation of privacy, or unless the government commits a common-law trespass for the purpose of obtaining information.” State v. Robinson, 410 S.C. 519, 527, 765 S.E.2d 564, 568 (2014) (citing Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 361 (1967) (Harlan, J., concurring); United States v. Jones, 565 U.S. 400, 404–05 (2012)). “What a person knowingly exposes to the public, even in his own home or office, is not a subject of Fourth Amendment protection.” Robinson, 410 S.C. at 527, 765 S.E.2d at 568 (quoting Katz, 389 U.S. at 351). To that end, “mere visual observations from public thoroughfares do not constitute a search, and police officers need not ‘shield their eyes’ when passing by a home.” Id. (emphasis added) (internal citation omitted) (quoting California v. Ciraolo, 476 U.S. 297, 213 (1986)). “But what [an individual] seeks to preserve as private, even in an area accessible to the public, may be constitutionally protected.” Katz, 389 U.S. at 351.

A. The vehicle in Dr. Little’s driveway was within the curtilage of his home.

The curtilage of a home is “the land immediately surrounding and associated with the home” and is “part of the home itself for Fourth Amendment purposes.” Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 180 (1984). “The protection afforded the curtilage is essentially a protection of families and personal privacy in an area intimately linked to the home, both physically and psychologically, where privacy expectations are most heightened.” Ciraolo, 476 U.S. at 212–13. “While the boundaries of curtilage are generally ‘clearly marked,’ the ‘conception defining the curtilage’ is at any rate familiar enough that it is ‘easily understood from our daily experience.’” Florida v. Jardines, 569 U.S. 1, 8 (2013) (quoting Oliver, 466 U.S. at 182 n.12).

The U.S. Supreme Court has outlined several factors a court may consider in determining whether an area constitutes curtilage:

the proximity of the area claimed to be curtilage to the home, whether the area is included within an enclosure surrounding the home, the nature of the uses to which the area is put, and the steps taken by the resident to protect the area from observation by people passing by.

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