**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Charleston County

The Honorable Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

GENERAL T. LITTLE,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2018-000561

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MICHAEL D. ROSS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 73986

South Carolina Office of the Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6307

SCARLETT A. WILSON.  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

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

This training puts the SLED agent in a better position than the jury to determine whether the shoe print found at the scene matched the shoes law enforcement seized from Appellant’s

house. See e.g. Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp., 326 S.C. 248, 252-53, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997) (“To be competent to testify as an expert, ‘a witness must have acquired by reason of study or experience or both such knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony.’”) As such, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in qualifying her as an expert. Appellant’s challenges to the agent’s qualifications go to the weight of her testimony, not its admissibility. See e.g. White, 382 S.C. at 273-274, 676 S.E.2d at 688.

Appellant argues that qualifying the SLED agent as an expert is akin to having a first-year associate provide expert testimony on legal malpractice. (App. Brief 37). The analogy is ill-suited to this case. The type and amount of training necessary to provide expert testimony depends on the subject matter. For example, the training needed to become an expert in brain surgery varies from the training needed to run a blood hound, or compare shoe prints. Equating the two is comparing apples to oranges.

This is not a legal malpractice case. Comparing the SLED agent’s training to a first-year associate confuses the issue because the law involves both art and science that is inherently different from comparing shoe prints. The relevant issue is whether the agent’s training and experience made her more qualified than the jury to compare the shoe print with the shoes recovered from Appellant’s house. Although outside the realm of lay knowledge, it is not rocket science. Accordingly, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in finding that she met that threshold.

B. Footwear Examination is an Uncontroversial and Reliable Discipline.

Appellant also argues that the circuit court abused its discretion in admitting the SLED agent’s expert testimony because it was unreliable. (App. Brief 38). In reaching this conclusion,

he applies the factors articulated in State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999). In Council, our Supreme Court identified four relevant factors in assessing reliability in a case involving mitochondrial DNA analysis. Id. at 18-20, 515 S.E.2d at 516-518. However, since then the court has recognized that “the foundational reliability requirement for expert testimony does not lend itself to a one-size-fits all approach, for the *Council* factors for scientific evidence serve no useful analytical purpose when evaluating nonscientific testimony.” White, 382 S.C. at 274, 676 S.E.2d at 688. More recently, the court noted that although both scientific and nonscientific expert testimony require a finding of reliability, “there is no formulaic approach for determining the reliability of nonscientific testimony.” Jones, 423 S.C. at 638-639, 817 S.E.2d at 272. Therefore, as a nonscientific, technical field, there is no “formula” for assessing the reliability of footwear examination. See Id.

Without a formulaic approach, a good starting point for assessing reliability is analyzing how other jurisdictions have handled the issue. As the circuit court likely understood, footwear examination is not controversial. Although appellant describes the field as “sketchy and undeveloped” (App. Brief 41), courts across the country have held this type of expert testimony is reliable.<sup>3</sup> For example, in United States v. Ford, the Third Circuit Court of Appeals noted that “[c]ourts have admitted shoeprint identification evidence for a long time.” Ford, 481 F.3d 215, 218 n. 4. It upheld the district court’s finding that “there was general acceptance of shoeprint analysis in both the federal courts and the forensic community, the theory has been subject to

---

<sup>3</sup> See United States v. Ford, 481 F.3d 215 (3d Cir. 2007); United States v. Allen, 390 F.3d 944 (7th Cir. 2004); State v. Gay, 145 A.3d 1066 (N.H. 2016); Berks v. State, 427 S.W.3d 98 (Ark. Ct. App. 2013); Jennings v. State, 123 So. 3d 1101 (Fla. 2013); Rodriguez v. State, 30 A.3d 764 (Del. 2011); Castellon v. State, 302 S.W.3d 568 (Tex. Ct. App. 2009); State v. Reid, 91 S.W.3d 247 (Tenn. 2002); West v. State, 755 N.E.2d 173 (Ind. 2001).

peer review and publication, the potential error rate is known, and there are standards and techniques commonly employed in the analysis.” Ford, 481 F.3d at 218.

Similarly, the Texas Court of Appeals in Castellon v. State noted, “the field of expertise in shoe print comparison is not complex. Nor is the degree of scientific expertise required high, particularly when the discipline is compared with, for example, DNA profiling. Indeed, Texas courts have long admitted lay and expert testimony on shoe print comparison.” Castellon, 302 S.W.3d 568, 572 (citations omitted). Because this type of expert testimony had been recognized as admissible for decades, a complete “gatekeeper” hearing was not even required in that case. Id. at 573. As the court explained, “it is unnecessary for trial courts to reinvent the scientific wheel in every trial.” Id.

Given the uncontroversial nature of this type of expert testimony, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in finding it reliable. As explained at trial, the SLED agent applied techniques she learned during her three years of training at a statewide law enforcement agency. (R. 947, l. 17-25). SLED did not reinvent the wheel of footwear examination, or employ techniques made up from whole cloth. Instead, in addition to its own training program, SLED sent this agent to train with an internationally recognized expert in the field and with the International Association of Identification. (R. 959, l. 8-18). In other words, the agent applied techniques used not only throughout South Carolina, but also throughout the greater law enforcement community. As such, the sources of her methodology are inherently open to challenge and refinement from law enforcement, defense attorneys, or general skeptics. This was not a case of a keystone cop making something up as she went along and calling it an expert opinion.

Furthermore, the SLED agent explained that every case requires a peer review by another qualified examiner to assess her work. (R. 948, l. 5-7). The peer review serves as an additional quality control mechanism to ensure the agent has not missed anything. (R. 960, l. 7-13). Peer review of casework carries even greater importance in this particular field. As explained by the court in Ford, the reliability of fields like footwear examination “rests upon the experience and observational powers of their practitioners.” Ford 481 F.3d at 218, n. 5. Because a second practitioner performed a peer review on this case, the agent’s testimony was based not on one individual’s experience and observational powers, but two. As such, the peer review enhanced the reliability of her testimony.

The agent’s testimony also revealed other quality control methods employed on this case. For example, she explained that photographs of prints taken at a crime scene must be taken at precisely ninety degrees from the ground, preferably with a tripod. (R. 968, l. 9-12). Deviations as small as a millimeter can affect the examination. (R. 968, l. 16-17). In this case, because the photograph of the print was not taken at precisely ninety degrees, the agent’s testimony was limited. She could only determine that the shoe print at the crime scene had a corresponding tread design with the shoes taken from appellant’s house, but could not elaborate further. (R. 975, l. 12-14). Although the deviation from the ninety degree standard limited the scope of the agent’s opinion, it enhanced the reliability of her testimony by illustrating the quality control protocols she uses.

Nevertheless, appellant argues that this case is similar to the testimony found unreliable in the Jones<sup>4</sup> case, but there are enormous differences between the two. In Jones I, the State

---

<sup>4</sup> State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001)(Jones I) and State v. Jones, 383 S.C. 535, 681 S.E.2d 580 (2009)(Jones II).

introduced expert testimony in the field of “barefoot insole impression.” Essentially, this field involves comparing inked impressions of a suspect’s feet, photos of a suspect’s known insole, and a standing cast of a suspect’s foot, with impressions of an unknown shoe insole. Jones I, 343 S.C. at 572, 541 S.E.2d at 818. The leading researcher in the field testified for the State, but acknowledged that he was still collecting data to determine what standards are relevant for points of comparison. Id. at 573, 541 S.E.2d at 819. He also testified that much of the earlier work in the field had been discredited. Id. Moreover, the officer that analyzed the insoles testified that neither he, nor anyone else in the agency, had ever done this type of test before. In fact, there was no written protocol in place at the time he conducted the test. Id. 574, 541 S.E.2d at 819. As such, the court held the testimony was unreliable and remanded the case for a new trial.

In Jones II, the State again offered barefoot insole impression evidence, but there had been no additional research developments to validate the field. Jones II, 383 S.C. at 550, 681 S.E.2d at 588. The officer also conducted no additional tests after the first trial. Id. at 553-54, 681 S.E.2d at 589. The court further noted that a publication from one of the State’s experts revealed “[t]he consensus among experienced examiners is that identifications are rare because the random individual characteristics necessary for an identification are rarely encountered.” Id. at 556-57, 681 S.E.2d at 591. Thus, the court assessed that peer reviewers found the technique unreliable. Id. Also noteworthy to the court, both SLED and the FBI stopped conducting barefoot insole analysis. Id.

This case differs from Jones in several important respects. First, the forensic and legal communities generally accept shoe print comparison as an uncontroversial technique. See Ford, 481 F.3d at 218. In contrast, SLED and the FBI have discontinued barefoot insole impression examinations. Jones II, 383 S.C. at 557, 681 S.E.2d at 591. Second, the officer in Jones had

never previously conducted a barefoot insole examination, or received any formal training in the field. In fact, the agency did not even have a training program or written protocol for testing in this area. In this case, the SLED agent had previously conducted between fifteen to twenty examinations and had over three years of training both in house and with outside agencies. Third, the State's expert in Jones published a work that cast doubt on the reliability of barefoot insole impressions. Id. at 556, 681 S.E.2d at 591. No such doubt exists with the shoe print comparisons involved in this case.

A better case for comparison involves a prosecution for criminal sexual conduct, with a defendant whose last name, coincidentally, is also Jones. In State v. Jones, 423 S.C. 631, 817 S.E.2d 268, (2018), the State offered expert testimony to explain the delayed disclosure of child sexual abuse victims and the behavior of non-offending caregivers. The victims in the case did not immediately disclose the abuse, and their mother failed to report it to law enforcement. The defendant argued that the trial court failed in its duty to ensure reliability because the expert witness could not identify academic studies supporting her opinions, or whether those studies had been peer reviewed. The Supreme Court disagreed, noting:

We find Jones's argument conflates reliability with perfection. There is always a possibility that an expert witness's opinions are incorrect. However, whether to accept the expert's opinions or not is a matter for the jury to decide. Trial courts are tasked only with determining whether the basis for the expert's opinion is sufficiently reliable such that it be may offered into evidence. Here, [the expert] met the threshold reliability requirement when she testified her methods were published in professional articles and trade publications, subject to peer review, and uniformly accepted and relied upon by other professionals in the field.

Jones, 423 S.C. 639-640, 817 S.E.2d at 272.

The case at bar also involves an expert using techniques generally relied upon by professionals in the field and subject to peer review. As discussed above, the circuit court

received extensive testimony to ensure its reliability. As such, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the jury to consider the evidence.

C. Even Assuming the Circuit Court Abused Its Discretion in Admitting Expert Testimony on Footwear Examination, the Error is Harmless.

A trial court's error is harmless when "it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict obtained." State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012)(quoting State v. Charping, 313 S.C. 147, 437 S.E.2d 88 (1993)). "Whether an error is harmless depends on the particular facts of each case and upon a host of factors including:

The importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and of course the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 333, 563 S.E.2d 315, 318 (2002)(quoting Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986)).

Even assuming that the circuit court abused its discretion in admitting expert testimony on footwear examination, this error would be harmless. The SLED agent testified that the shoe print at the crime scene had a corresponding tread design with the shoe seized from appellant's house. (R. 975, l. 12-14). The circuit court permitted a full cross-examination in which the agent conceded she could not match the appellant's shoes to the print at the crime scene. (R. 978, l. 23-25). Rather, she could only "say the overall tread design is similar." (R. 703, l. 18-19).

Therefore, the agent's testimony is cumulative to other evidence that actually connected appellant's shoes to the crime scene. As discussed above, law enforcement found the victim's blood on the same pair of shoes. (R. 994, l. 12-14). Law enforcement also discovered the

victim's blood on the driver's door and passenger's seat of appellant's car. (R. 994, l. 12-14). In light of this testimony, any error would be harmless.

As such, this case is similar to the situation in State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012). In Tapp, the State presented testimony of an expert in crime scene analysis and victimology, who gave an opinion on how and why a murder occurred. At the time of the trial, the law instructed that reliability of nonscientific expert testimony was exclusively a jury determination. The Supreme Court held that although the circuit court should have vetted the testimony for reliability, the error was harmless. The court explained that in light of a DNA test connecting the defendant to the crime scene and the defendant's confession to cellmates, the expert testimony on crime scene analysis was harmless. Id. at 391, 728 S.E.2d at 476.

The same reasoning applies here. In light of the State's other evidence, particularly the victim's blood found on the same pair of shoes, testimony on footwear examination was cumulative. Any error in its admission would be harmless.

**CONCLUSION**

Law enforcement acted reasonably and with measured restraint in responding to this violent, chaotic murder scene. The law requires that appellant receive a fair trial, and he did. For the reasons discussed above, it is respectfully submitted that the appeal be dismissed.